

Report on Conceptual Grounds and Common Understandings

May 2023

Deliverable D1.1 (version 1)



Funded by the European Union



Project name	Transformation for sustainable nutrient and supply management
Project acronym	trans4num
Project ID	101081847
Project duration	December 2022 – November 2026
Project Coordinator	University of Hohenheim (UHOH)
Project website	https://trans4num.eu/
Work package	1
Work package leader	Szechenyi Egyetem (SZE)
Deliverable number and title	D1.1 Report on conceptual grounds and common understandings
Authors	András Vér, Krisztina Takács, Viktória Vona, István Mihály Kulmány
Version	1
Dissemination level	Public



Disclaimer: This document was produced under the terms and conditions of Grant Agreement No. 101081847 for the European Commission. Views and opinions expressed here do not necessarily reflect those of the European Union or REA. Neither the European Union nor the granting authority can be held responsible for them.

Table of Contents

1.	. Introduction	5
	1.1 Objectives of trans4num project	5
	Specific objectives of trans4num	5
	1.2 Purpose and development procedure of Deliverable 1.1	7
	1.3 Structure of the document	8
2.	. What is NBS?	9
	2.1 Development of the NBS concept	9
	2.2 Typology of NBS	12
	2.3 Different approaches and definitions of NBS	15
	NBS definitions	17
	Examples of NBS definitions and use in some trans4num partner countries	17
	2.4 Key concepts connected to NBS	21
	Climate change	21
	Agroecology	22
	Regenerative/Circular farming	22
	Restoration ecology	24
	Nutrient flow	24
	Nutrient flow	
		25
	(Agro)ecosystem	25 27
	(Agro)ecosystem Socio-ecological and socio-economic contexts	25 27 29
	(Agro)ecosystem Socio-ecological and socio-economic contexts 2.5 Scientific areas related to NBS	25 27 29 29
	 (Agro)ecosystem Socio-ecological and socio-economic contexts 2.5 Scientific areas related to NBS 2.6 IUCN Global Standard for NBS 	25 27 29 29 30
	 (Agro)ecosystem Socio-ecological and socio-economic contexts 2.5 Scientific areas related to NBS 2.6 IUCN Global Standard for NBS About IUCN 	25 27 29 29 30 31
3.	 (Agro)ecosystem	25 27 29 29 30 31 31
3.	 (Agro)ecosystem	25 27 29 29 30 31 31 31
3.	 (Agro)ecosystem	25 27 29 30 31 31 32 32
3.	 (Agro)ecosystem	25 27 29 30 31 31 32 32 32 33
3.	 (Agro)ecosystem	25 27 29 29 30 31 31 31 32 32 32 33 34
3.	 (Agro)ecosystem	25 27 29 29 30 31 31 31 32 32 32 33 34 36
	 (Agro)ecosystem	25 27 29 29 30 31 31 31 32 32 32 33 34 36 37



List of figures

Figure 1 Timeline of the development of the NBS (Cohen-Shacham et al. 2016)10
Figure 2 Publications containing the term "nature-based solutions" in the Web of Science database from 2005 to 202210
Figure 3 Identification of NBS definition (Sowińska-Świerkosz and García 2022)11
Figure 4 Research methodology to create the concept of NBS (Castellar et al. 2021)12
Figure 5 A possible hierarchical classification of considered NBS (Castellar et al. 2021) and NBS innovations tested in trans4num
Figure 6 Schematic representation of the range of NBS approaches (Eggermont et al. 2015)
Figure 7 Linkage of IUCN NBS categories and generic examples to specific NBS and associated functions (Anderson and Gough 2022)14
Figure 8 Criteria for NBS (IUCN, 2020a)15
Figure 9 Web of science query 2023.03.28 (The areas on the chart are not strictly proportional to the values of each entry)29
Figure 10 "Nature-based Solutions are actions to protect, sustainably manage and restore natural and modified ecosystems in ways that address societal challenges effectively and adaptively, to provide both human well-being and biodiversity benefits" (IUCN 2020b)30
Figure 11 Links and interactions of nature-based agriculture (Erisman et al. 2017)34
Figure 12 NBS in agricultural production (FAO, 2020)
Figure 13 Conceptual framework of NBS in agriculture under the auspices of the trans4num project

List of tables

Table 1 Objectives and anticipated outcomes of the agenda and planning	20
Table 2 Concepts related to NBS and societal challenges addressed.	28



1. Introduction

1.1 Objectives of trans4num project

Nature-based solutions (NBS), such as bio-based fertilisers, enhanced agricultural practices and technologies etc., come with immense potential to positively change intensive agricultural land use in Europe and beyond: to move towards net-zero environmental impacts while achieving food and water security and meet climate goals (Iseman and Miralles-Wilhelm 2021). However, the application of NBS is still limited and, in some cases, declining for several reasons. The first reason is the insufficient exploration and limited experimentation of the often-complex practices, processes and technologies. Secondly, the lack of knowledge, skills and capacities for their situational adaptation and application in different situations. And thirdly, the social and societal-level deficits in acceptance, incentives and further institutional support. Additionally, the broader effects of NBS on e.g. climate resilience and crop productivity, including nutrient availability and interaction between nutrients and carbon cycles, are scarcely explored.

The overarching ambition of trans4num is to substantiate and broadly promote the NBS approach for sustainable agricultural practices in Europe and China with a particular focus on nutrient management (bio-based nutrient sources, sustainable crop rotations, integrated management practices). To do so, trans4num will develop and implement a social-ecological transformation (SET) approach tailored for the inter- and transdisciplinary research on NBS for a more sustainable nutrient management in regions with intensive farming systems. In particular, trans4num will:

- Develop a disaggregated understanding of NBS potentials for achieving sustainable agricultural practices;
- Understand and analyse the complex interdependencies of applying NBS;
- Develop a dynamic, smart nutrient management tool to support decision making for optimal nutrient supply;
- Assess the (net) impact of technological and social innovations as well as policies related to NBS.

Specific objectives of trans4num

It is the overall objective of trans4num to develop and test innovative NBS practices and pathways that contribute to a socio-ecological transformation of existing intensive agriculture systems towards an increasingly sustainable nutrient management. The overall objective will be achieved through a number of specific ones:

 Specific objective (1): develop, practice and assess inter- and transdisciplinary, systemic research conducive for a transformative learning approach towards sustainable agricultural practices. Transformative learning needs encompass the acquisition and the sharing of new knowledge, and of values and behavioural changes' requirements for a wider implementation of NBS, they will become apparent through trans4num's inter- and transdisciplinary cooperation. Crosscutting insights will be obtained from numerous collaborative activities among the project partners and in cooperation with wider stakeholder communities related to the NBS sites; they will be



systematically documented (based on D1.1-D1.4) and comparatively analysed for the wider audience (D5.3).

- Specific objective (2): develop a differentiated understanding of NBS potentials for sustainable agricultural practices in the context of intensive farming systems. For seven selected regions in Europe and China, trans4num will characterise, test and assess both mono-nutrient and multi-nutrient NBS through case studies investigating nutrient flows, management options and policy interventions for a selection of agricultural products in different biophysical and farming systems' contexts at multiple intervention levels (field, farm, farming system), and address the aspects of nutrient deficit, surplus and/or loss (D2.1-D2.8).
- Specific objective (3): understand and analyse the complex interdependencies of applying NBS as well as their effects for multi-level nutrient management. For a selection of promising NBS and comparatively across the selected NBS sites, trans4num will use the Agricultural Knowledge and Innovation System (AKIS) framework to analyse the respective innovation processes with an actor-centred approach, thus emphasising the actor-agency rationale of sustainable practices, identifying and fostering actor coalitions and promising innovation support measures and entry-points for a wider dissemination (D2.9, D4.4).
- Specific objective (4): develop a dynamic and smart nutrient management tool to support decision making for optimum nutrient supply in diverse agricultural practices and at multiple intervention levels. trans4num will demonstrate, advance and evaluate a range of innovative monitoring techniques and models to enhance the adoption of decision support systems that can help optimisation of NBS at a regional level for the sustainable use of nutrients with inter- and transdisciplinary approaches (D3.1-D3.3).
- Specific objective (5): provide an integrated assessment of food systems, value chains and policy levels' leverage points for a robust transition to nature-based nutrient management in Europe and China. Based on agent-based impact simulations and foodsystem level biophysical mass- and nutrient-flow models, trans4num will measure the sustainability impact and upscaling potential of key nature-based nutrient management strategies for farming systems and along value chains and identify options for transformational change at the food-system level. trans4num will develop a multi-level, multi-actor exchange and assessment approach to comprehensively investigate and evaluate the process, dimensions and the impact of technological and social innovations as well as policies contributing to promising NBS related socialecological transformation pathways. (D4.1-D4.4).
- Specific objective (6): develop evidence-based knowledge, create awareness for necessary conditions in a food system context, disseminate, up- and out-scale information and recommendations related to the design, development and implementation of NBS in different farming systems of intensive production character. o A broad range of outputs in different formats per NBS site will inform and sensitise various target groups and the wider public for the potentials and advantages that come with NBS innovations;



- A range of dissemination and exploitation activities will demonstrate NBS advantages and the strengths of a multi-level, multi-actor social-ecological transformation (SET) approach in European and other international professional networks and conferences; o A series of policy briefs will reach political decision makers and regional management bodies with situationally adjusted and institutionally adapted recommendations (D5.2-D5.5).
- Specific objective (7): enhance Europe China exchange and learning processes and promote synergy and alignment of agenda-setting on sustainable agricultural practices in intensive farming systems. trans4num will create numerous opportunities for European and Chinese academicians and practitioners to deepen their understanding of NBS innovations and exchange knowledge through developing a joint strategy for promoting NBS for sustainable nutrient management. Taking the perspectives of SET, the project partners consider the Europe-China interaction as a high-level force of nudging system changes that would be otherwise locked in at the national, regional and local levels. There is an option to harmonize sustainability standards for increased transferability and transparency between China and Europe, and to jointly develop enhancing ecosystems and enabling environments for NBS innovations and societal changes.

1.2 Purpose and development procedure of Deliverable 1.1

In order to achieve the objectives of the project, it is necessary to look more closely at the definition of NBS in order to establish a common conceptual basis among the partner countries. For a better understanding, it is also useful to know how the concept of NBS has evolved and developed over time.

Trans4num's scientific partners have therefore provided a concise summary of the state of the art of empirical NBS research in their respective fields, highlighting the most recent and innovative findings. These findings provide the conceptual basis for the joint work and contribute to the overview of NBS that are appropriate to respond to the site-specific challenges where trans4num operates (D2.1, D3.2).

A common conceptual ground has been developed based on the state of the art by identifying and joining key concepts, definitions related to nature-based solutions, nutrient flow, climate change, agroecology, restorative ecology, regenerative/circular farming, ecosystems into a coherent framework. The aim is for project partners from different backgrounds to share a common understanding of the guiding concepts and principles, which will help them to communicate and collaborate effectively. The results are summarised in the current document, cross-checked and agreed by all partners.

The following NBS definition has been used as a basis throughout the development of trans4num project: "Nature-based solutions are defined as actions to protect, sustainably manage, and restore natural or modified ecosystems that address societal challenges effectively and adaptively, simultaneously providing human well-being and biodiversity benefits (Cohen-Shacham et al. 2016)."

NBS have become a prominent concept in environmental management and policy-making over the past few decades. Today, NBS generally refer to the use of natural ecosystems and biodiversity to address various environmental and societal challenges such as climate change,



biodiversity loss, and human health and well-being. The development of the NBS concept can be traced back to various fields of study such as ecology, restoration ecology, and ecosystem services.

Development procedure

The deliverable was developed as part of WP1, Task 1.1 (Develop a conceptual framework based on the state of the art) led by SZE. The basic structure and contents of the document were defined by SZE with the support of UHOH, WU, AU, RRes, FiBL, HCC, P4AII, AII-CAAS, ICS-CAAS, SWU, HAAS, THU, AQSC, RCRE, HADFIC.

The document was shaped through several online meetings between the project partners, and the draft was uploaded to a common platform where partners could comment and add their input. The final document thus reflects the partners' shared insights on NBS and is suitable for developing a common understanding that will guide the implementation of further project activities.

In developing D1.1, all the academic partners provided a concise summary of the state of the art of empirical NBS research in their respective fields, highlighting the most recent and innovative findings. These findings provide the conceptual basis for the joint work and contribute to the overview of NBS that are appropriate to respond to the site-specific challenges where trans4num operates. The state-of-the-art work was carried out through desk studies and literature reviews.

Here we would like to clarify the spelling of "nature-based solutions" and its abbreviation. Since the scientific literature on the subject and the international organisations concerned spell these terms differently, the spelling used in this paper follows the spelling used when writing the trans4num proposal. That is: nature-based solutions and NBS for short. The original spelling has been retained where it is quoted verbatim.

1.3 Structure of the document

The document is divided into four sections. In the first introductory section we describe the aims of the trans4num project, the purpose of the document, the process of its development and its structure.

The second section explores the concept of nature-based solutions. As the concept of NBS is relatively new, there is no generally accepted, well-established definition of it. One of the first steps in understanding the concept is to look at its origins, which are discussed in Development of the NBS concept (2.1). 2.2 gives further insight into the concept of NBS by exploring the possible typological classification. We collected different approaches, definitions of NBS (2.3) and key concepts connected to NBS (2.4). This section contains a list of key terms related to NBS as defined in the proposal, with the aim of developing a common understanding between the partners. Section 2.5 provides a brief introduction to the IUCN Global Standard (2.6), which is one of the most comprehensive attempts to develop a concept of NBS worldwide. Section 3 describes the role and potential of NBS in agriculture and the most commonly used NBS. Methods are discussed in terms of their application to agricultural production or the agricultural landscape.



2. What is NBS?

2.1 Development of the NBS concept

Human activity and intervention on earth have reached a level that has led to environmental changes, often irreversible, to which societies are responding with two types of solutions. One is increased reliance on technology, and the alternative is a shift towards natural solutions, reflecting a more complex approach (Eggermont et al. 2015). The term NBS itself suggests that nature can provide solutions to these global challenges and transform them into opportunities (EC 2021).

Often referred to as a "framework" (Cohen-Shacham 2019), the concept of NBS is in constant evolution (Dick et al. 2019; Dumitru et al. 2020; Davies et al. 2021). Many environmental scientists believe that nature-based solutions enhance community welfare, climate resilience and biodiversity.

Professionals, researchers and policy makers involved in the management of the natural environment have been regularly encountering new terminology and concepts since the last decades of the 20th century (Nesshöver et al. 2017). The idea of environmental or ecosystem services first appeared in the scientific literature in the 1970s. By the 1990s, there was a generally accepted need for a more systematic approach to the relationship between humans and nature (Cohen-Shacham et al. 2016). The term "sustainable development" was first defined by the UN Brundtland Commission in the late 1980s (Brundtland et al. 1987), followed by the emergence of "biodiversity" from conservation biology. During the last two decades an anthropocentric approach to natural resource management has been increasingly emphasized (Nesshöver et al. 2017).

The NBS concept emerged in the late-2000s as a way to bring together these various fields of study and practices (MacKinnon et al. 2008).

The specific term "nature-based solutions" was first used in the late 2000s (MacKinnon et al. 2008) in the context of mitigating and adapting to the impacts of climate change while "protecting biodiversity and improving sustainable livelihoods" (Eggermont et al. 2015).

The World Bank used the phrase first in 2008 (MacKinnon et al. 2008) and the International Union for Conservation of Nature (IUCN) in 2009 in a position paper for the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (IUCN 2009), where NBS were defined as: "actions to protect, sustainably manage, and restore natural or modified ecosystems" (Eggermont et al. 2015). Figure 1 shows the main institutional developments associated with NBS (Cohen-Shacham et al. 2016).





Figure 1 Timeline of the development of the NBS (Cohen-Shacham et al. 2016)

The Web of Science database was searched for publications after 2000 to find the number of publications containing the exact phrase "nature-based solutions" (Figure 2). This is a selected example from the Web of Science databases, but it illustrates the explosion in the number of publications dealing with NBS after the first appearance in 2009.



Figure 2 Publications containing the term "nature-based solutions" in the Web of Science database from 2005 to 2022

In 2013, the first NBS-focused research programme was launched. In 2015, the European Commission report on NBS and re-naturing cities (Bauduceau et al. 2015) called for research



and innovation on NBS to examine their social, economic and environmental benefits (Sowińska-Świerkosz and García 2022).

In 2015, the NBS concept was included in the European Union's Horizon2020 call, in order to achieve the global goals on climate change and sustainable development and due to the popularity of related scientific research areas such as sustainability, biodiversity, ecosystem services and climate change (Li et al. 2021).

Based on a review of 20 definitions of NBS, Sowińska-Świerkosz and García (2022) found that the different definitions have 4 main characteristics in common: they "(1) are inspired and powered by nature; (2) address (societal) challenges or resolve problems; (3) provide multiple services/benefits, including biodiversity gain; and (4) are of high effectiveness and economic efficiency."

A study published in 2022 aimed at clarifying the concept of NBS by conducting a systematic review of publications and identifying key words used in the definitions (Figure 3). On 30 January 2021, Scopus was searched for publications including the term 'nature-based solution' in their title, abstract and/or keywords.



Figure 3 Identification of NBS definition (Sowińska-Świerkosz and García 2022)

Out of the 970 documents retrieved, the most relevant 200 were screened, 64 were detailed analysed and 20 documents contained a definition of NBS. The analysis revealed that the NBS concept is centred around an 'action'/'intervention'/'solution' term, along with key words



related to the purpose (e.g. 'challenge', 'society', 'biodiversity') and style (e.g. 'powered by nature', 'sustainable', 'efficient/effective') of the action. Overall, NBS involves actions that are inspired and powered by nature, address societal challenges or resolve problems, provide multiple services/benefits (including biodiversity gain), and are highly effective and economically efficient (Sowińska-Świerkosz and García 2022).

NBS is now widely recognised as a means of addressing environmental and societal objectives. For example, the European Union has recognised NBS as a key strategy for achieving its biodiversity and climate objectives, and the United Nations has also identified NBS as a key strategy for achieving the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs).

In conclusion, the development of the NBS concept has been influenced by a range of fields of study and practices, including ecosystem services, ecosystem-based management, and ecological restoration. NBS has become a prominent strategy for addressing environmental and societal challenges, but further research is required to ensure its successful implementation.

2.2 Typology of NBS

Clarifying the definition of NBS is closely linked to the question of how to categorise NBS. Several of the studies that have been carried out in order to develop a definition have also included the categorisation of NBS.

An example is the research by Castellar et al. (2021) to develop a common understanding of the nomenclature and typology of NBS. The research involved a review of 4 European research projects. After elicitation workshops to develop an integrative list of NBS, and a conceptual hierarchical classification, the NBS were clustered. An integrative assessment of NBS performance was developed, based on the qualitative evaluations from each project (Figure 4).



Figure 4 Research methodology to create the concept of NBS (Castellar et al. 2021)

The research resulted in the following hierarchical classification of NBS (Figure 5).



Figure 5 A possible hierarchical classification of considered NBS (Castellar et al. 2021) and NBS innovations tested in trans4num

Figure 5 is complemented with innovative NBS that are being tested in the trans4num project. The methods to be tested are basically classified in the above categories of NBS interventions, including "soil interventions" and "biodiversity interventions". We have not divided the methods used into soil and biodiversity interventions, as these interventions tend to overlap. For example, crop rotation can be a soil intervention but can also enrich the biodiversity of the area, or various soil improvement interventions can increase soil biodiversity.

According to the above classification, methods belonging to the categories "soil interventions" and "biodiversity interventions" will be tested in trans4num test sites, such as novel crop rotations, bio based and recycled fertilizers, biostimulants.

Another typology by Eggermont et al. (2015) to characterize NBS along two gradients (Figure 6):

- 1. How much engineering of biodiversity and ecosystems is involved in NBS?
- 2. How many ecosystem services and stakeholder groups are targeted by a given NBS?





Figure 6 Schematic representation of the range of NBS approaches (Eggermont et al. 2015)

The NBS tested in trans4num (e.g. crop rotation, no tillage, cover crops, biostimulants) can be classified as type 2, NBS for sustainability and multifunctionality of managed ecosystems.

Anderson and Gough (2022) used the IUCN framework and its key categories as a starting point to categorize NBS (Figure 7), to show how each application behaves as a complex intervention to address societal challenges.

Figure 7 illustrates the five categories defined by IUCN with general examples, while also illustrating specific NBS applications and their associated benefits.



Figure 7 Linkage of IUCN NBS categories and generic examples to specific NBS and associated functions (Anderson and Gough 2022)



2.3 Different approaches and definitions of NBS

Based on a targeted literature review, four different approaches to describe and define NBS can be distinguished:

1. The ecosystem perspective: At the heart of this definition is the need for strong ecosystem management and restoration at local, regional, landscape and national level (UNEP 2022; Cohen-Shacham et al. 2016). The effective use of ecosystems and their services should in turn contribute to meeting general societal challenges such as food security, climate change, social and economic development and many more by simultaneously ensuring the local communities' needs. NBS is therefore used as an umbrella term for referring to ecosystem related approaches managing societal challenges. In practice, examples for this perspective are often characterised by minimal interventions in ecosystems, highlighting preservation such as protection of mangroves or coastal areas (Eggermont et al. 2015). IUCN (2020a) proposed a standard for NBS with 8 criteria and 28 indicators to precise and clarify the concept for a common understanding (Figure 8). Through the standard, the extent to which a proposed solution qualifies as an NBS can be assessed. It also identifies actions that can be taken to further strengthen the robustness of the interventions, using a scale of: strong, adequate, weak and insufficient. This tool enables purposeful design solutions and to adhere to the criteria and indicators. At the same time, it allows for building in adaptive management mechanisms that maintain the relevance and robustness of the solution through its lifespan.



Figure 8 Criteria for NBS (IUCN, 2020a)

2. **The economical perspective**: From the European Commission's (EC) perspective, NBS are expected to contribute to more resilient economies that warrant people's needs also in times of climate change and other risks. In practice this approach focuses on development and management of sustainable and multifunctional ecosystems to



improve its delivery, such as increasing multifunctionality of agricultural landscapes or enhancing tree genetic diversity in forests for increased resilience to climatic developments (Eggermont et al. 2015). Further an aim is to create new ecosystems, for instance, roof gardening, green and blue infrastructure and restoration of degraded and polluted areas as source for green growth and development (Eggermont et al. 2015). Research in this regard, shall provide and improve framework conditions for NBS at EU policy level (Wild et al. 2020). This approach contributes to the development of a European research and innovation community and mainstreams NBS in international research and innovation. Research is therefore expected to advance the development, uptake and upscale of innovative NBS in the light of strong (European) economies. The updated version of EC's definition more strongly emphasises a more passive and "natural" development of economy and habitats such as cities, land- and seascapes compared to the original definition (EC 2022).

- 3. The agricultural perspective: In this perspective agricultural practice and producers are put in the centre by highlighting "cost-effective interventions that can enhance resilience in agriculture and food production, while mitigating climate change and enhancing nature and biodiversity" (Iseman and Miralles-Wilhelm 2021). A critical role for the development of landscapes and managing of climate and environment challenges is seen for agricultural producers as they directly work with and depend on land and water resources. They can have a positive role as they finally implement NBS but also a destructive role in a way that many inhibiting factors beforehand such as initial costs, risk perception and willingness to change have to be overcome for the adoption of NBS. To support the implementation, direct economic and broader societal benefits to producers in agricultural production and grazing management need to be created. Nevertheless, implementation at landscape scale should be done by diverse stakeholders to maximise benefits and scale up impacts. Policy could enable and guide this development through different tools such as law and regulation, economic incentives, capacity building and communication.
- 4. The agri-ecological perspective: Simelton et al. (2021) see "the use of natural processes or elements" as the starting point to improve "ecosystem functions of environments and landscapes affected by agricultural practices" by at the same time "enhancing livelihoods and other social and cultural functions, over various temporal and spatial scales". Meeting these challenges in landscapes through the use of NBS, a framework was designed. The categorise of the framework sustainable practices, green infrastructure amelioration of environmental factors and conservation are proposed to add functionality, purpose and scale in designing projects.

Summarising the above-mentioned approaches NBS are environmentally friendly practices and natural infrastructures derived from site-specific experimentations and problem-solving processes in intensive agri-food systems and rural landscapes, which can provide low-risk and cost-effective solutions for simultaneously gaining socio-economic, natural and cultural benefits.

Based on project-internal work, further understandings of NBS were presented. For instance, from a practitioner perspective, NBS in the context of nutrient management, is the standard fertilisation for the future that keeps yields and quality at the level we are used to, based on



local circularity. In a modelling perspective, NBS can be a decision-support system that estimates the effect of using bio-based fertilisers, green refining biomass, and crop rotations for optimal nutrient (i.e., N and P) management options, both in conventional and organic farms and at landscape and regional scales.

NBS definitions

"Actions to protect, sustainably manage, and restore natural and modified ecosystems, that address societal challenges effectively and adaptively, simultaneously" benefiting people and nature (IUCN 2016; Cohen-Schacham et al. 2016).

Nature-based agriculture is a form of sustainable agriculture and part of a resilient ecosystem and food system. It makes optimal use of ecological processes and integrates them into farming practice. Nature-based agriculture also directly contributes to the quality of the natural environment itself, producing food within the boundaries set by the environment and having a positive impact on biodiversity (van Doorn et al. 2016).

UN environment assembly: "Actions to protect, conserve, restore, sustainably use and manage natural or modified terrestrial, freshwater, coastal and marine ecosystems, which address social, economic and environmental challenges effectively and adaptively, while simultaneously providing human well-being, ecosystem services and resilience and biodiversity benefits" (UNEP 2022)

"NBS are solutions that can transform environmental and societal challenges into innovation opportunities, by turning natural capital into a source for green growth and sustainable development" (EC 2015).

"Solutions that are inspired and supported by nature, which are cost-effective, simultaneously provide environmental, social and economic benefits and help build resilience. Such solutions bring more, and more diverse, nature and natural features and processes into cities, landscapes and seascapes, through locally adapted, resource-efficient and systemic interventions." (EC 2022)

"NBS are cost-effective interventions that can enhance resilience in agriculture and food production, while mitigating climate change and enhancing nature and biodiversity" (Iseman and Miralles-Wilhelm 2021).

"NBS are measures that protect, sustainably manage or restore nature, with the goal of maintaining or enhancing ecosystem services to address a variety of social, environmental and economic challenges." (OECD 2020).

Examples of NBS definitions and use in some trans4num partner countries

Czech Republic

Climate change has an effect on a number of areas and sectors in everyday life and also in economies. Besides direct impacts on the community of cities and villages such as, for example heat waves, drought, floods, diseases and internal migration, climate change affects all national economies, including agriculture. Agriculture is a very sensitive sector to climate change because of the significant effect of climate change on agricultural production and ecosystems as well as for landscape and soil. These challenges need to be solved also by the Czech Republic (Ministry of the Environment in 2017). To answer these challenges adequately, the Czech Republic must introduce new measures, agricultural practices and mindset for their



farmers that contribute to solving problems that have been overlooked or handled inadequately due to limited resources (erosion, soil removal, water quality, etc.).

In the Czech Republic, most nature-based solutions are limited to cities based on the available information. The previously discussed natural phenomena caused by radical environmental changes influence the quality of life in cities and impact infrastructure, human health and city life (EEA, 2017). The green buildings (ESB-magazin 2017; Zelene Strechy 2017; Inspirace 2016), different educational programme (Křenovská I 2014; Lipka 2015), the renovation and revitalization of nature in public places (Denik 2012; City of Brno 2017; Centrum News 2020; Water in Brno, 2020) as urban nature-based solutions are well discussed in literatures (Badura et. al., 2021; Vojvodíková et. al., 2022), but there is less discussion on nature-based solutions used in agriculture sector in Czech Republic.

Territorial System of Ecological Stability - An interconnected complex of natural, or even modified, though nearly natural, ecosystems which are capable of maintaining a natural balance. There are local, regional and supraregional systems.

Denmark

There is no policy or law in Denmark that mentions NBS, so there are many different definitions in academia, however the IUCN definition and the EU definition seem to be the ones used mostly. The Nordic Council of Ministers has just recently initiated a program on this, and published a report:

https://norden.diva-portal.org/smash/get/diva2:1724385/FULLTEXT01.pdf: they use this definition: "definition of NBS as actions based in nature to address societal challenges and that NBS imitate and enhance natural processes and mechanisms"

England

"Ways of working with natural processes to provide benefits to people and nature" (EA 2022)

Specifically, in relation to climate change: A collection of approaches that offer the potential to reduce and remove emissions by "enhancing the ability of ecosystems" to sequester carbon dioxide (by capturing, removing and storing carbon dioxide from the Earth's atmosphere), or by "reversing the degradation of an ecosystem" so that it no longer emits greenhouse gas emissions."

Hungary

The H2020-funded NATURVATION project carried out a study in 2017 on EU and national policy instruments and relevant national policy discourse and developments on NBS.

Interviews conducted during the study revealed that while the term NBS rarely appears at the national level (neither in policies nor in discourses), it has emerged in recent years in local discussions. Other related concepts have been around for over 10 years, with terms like GI more recently being integrated into sectoral discourses, national strategies, and informational campaigns. 'Sustainable management' is the term that is estimated to have been used most frequently in the past on the whole within different sectoral discussions, but more recently the 'green (and blue) infrastructure' or 'ecosystem-based approaches' have gained in usage within nature conservation discussions." (Davis et al., 2017)



Hungary's Fundamental Law lays the foundations for the regulation of the NBS: "Natural resources, in particularly arable land, forests and water resources, biodiversity, in particular native plant and animal species, and cultural values are the common heritage of the nation, which the state and all of us have the duty to protect, maintain and preserve for future generations." (Hungary's Fundamental Law).

The current environmental policy does not sufficiently support the use of these approaches. The concept of NBS is reflected in several horizontal and sectoral policies and partially in regulations, but the regulatory environment for implementation and the institutional system is still lagging.

Switzerland

The government talks here and there about NBS - but remains rather vague in general - or then specifies it for concrete cases, c.f. e.g. a talk by the director of BAFU (Federal Office for the Environment). Other organisations also use their definitions, but all remain rather general. Business uses the following definition (Swiss Business Network 4 Nature, https://sb4n.ch/ - a business network with many larger companies as members, e.g. Holcim: concrete production, etc.): "What are Nature-based Solutions?

Nature-based Solutions are actions that work with and enhance nature to help address societal challenges. The concept is grounded in the knowledge that healthy natural and managed ecosystems produce a diverse range of services on which human wellbeing depends.

We believe that mainstreaming nature conservation into key economic sectors is essential. Increasingly, governments and business alike recognise that NBS are not only useful tools, but imperative for addressing the dual global crises on biodiversity loss and climate change." - In this generality, it is rather void of contents, though.

China

China's five-year development strategy for green agriculture was announced by the Chinese government in 2021. The plan, jointly issued by six ministries including the Ministry of Agriculture and Rural Affairs, identified resource protection, pollution control, restoration of agricultural ecology and development of a low-carbon agricultural industrial chain as key tasks for 2021-2025.

The plan identified the following challenges for the development of green agriculture in China:

- Awareness and perception
- Extensive production through intensive use of external inputs
- Insufficient supply of quality products and poor sustainability standards
- Governance issues (e.g. incentives and regulations)

The plan identified the following objectives and possible outcomes (Table 1).



Objectives	Specific outcomes	
Improving efficiency of nature resource use	Land and water use efficiency	
Bettering environmental quality and pollution- mitigation	Fertilizer and pesticide efficiency; integrative straw use; manure use efficiency; retrieving field film; soil conditioner and biological fertilizer; recycling residuals	
Strengthening ecosystem (e.g. biodiversity, forestry, grassland)	Minimise of land degradation; recovery of 'black soil' (chernozem) in Northeast China	
Enhancing supply chain capacity (e.g. quality supply, branding)	Certification to organic and PGI; ecolabel	
Carbon sequestration and mitigation	Ecosystem valuation; monitoring and surveillance	

Table 1 Objectives and anticipated outcomes of the agenda and planning

Regional and territorial consideration:

- Peri-urban animal husbandry, especially for large-scale farms
- Peri-urban aquaculture and water pollution
- Straw mulching: major grain production areas (i.e. Northeast, North China Plain, Yangtze River)
- Fallow and rotation: Northeast; North China Plain (Yellow River Basin); Yangtze River
- Farming-pastoral or mixed/integrating crop-livestock: North; Northwest; importantly, for counties with large livestock and major crop production
- Ecosystem approaches and management: Yellow River Basin (mountains, rivers, forests, farmlands, lakes and grasslands)
- Integrated rice and aquaculture farming: Yangtze River; Pearl River Delta

Governance and institutions:

- Green supply chain (e.g. infrastructure; e-commerce; standards and eco-label; consumption)
- Innovation platform and farmer entrepreneurship
- Smallholder family farmers (e.g. advisory services; integrated services; extension; capacity development)
- Digital tools and digital services
- Watershed approaches and management (in reference to management by administrative areas)
- Payment for ecosystem services and protection



2.4 Key concepts connected to NBS

In order to have a coherent approach to the NBS examined in the framework of the trans4num project, several target areas/concepts have been identified, the preliminary definition of which is critical in the light of the interpretation of the expected results. These target areas are the following: **nutrient flow, climate change, agroecology, restoration ecology, regenerative farming and ecosystems.** In the next chapter, the definitions of these target areas will be clarified by monitoring their changes over time.

Climate change

Climate change and its impact on the environment, ecology, society, political decisions and economy have long been researched (Adger et al. 2005; Leal Filho et al. 2021; Feliciano et al. 2022). The interpretation of the concept of climate change has changed slightly over time, and additional concepts with slightly different meanings such as Global Warming or Climate Emergency have been introduced for its comprehensive understanding (Munasinghe 2010; Kyte, 2014; Princiotta and Loughlin, 2014; Martens et al., 2016). The study of the impact of human activity on the environment has become an increasingly popular research topic since the 1950s (Pierrehumbert 2010; Peterson et al., 2008).

In 1992, the official concept of climate change was designed by The United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCC). Accordingly, Climate change means a change of climate which is attributed directly or indirectly to human activity that alters the composition of the global atmosphere and is in addition to natural climate variability observed over comparable periods (UNFCCC, 1992). According to the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC), the Climate change is a long-term change in the typical or average weather of a region. Supplementing the UNFCCC concept, the attention was raised not only the human but also to the industrial activities that have led to gradually accelerating changes in the climate in the last few decades, including an annually incremental increase in the average surface temperature, which has been defined as climate change (IPCC, 2014). In 2018, IPCC reformed the previous definition as "a change in the state of the climate that can be identified by changes in the mean and/or the variability of its properties and that persists for an extended period" (IPCC, 2018).

Researchers have further specified the concept of climate change according to its impacts. It is considered that it can be characterised based on the comprehensive long-haul temperature and precipitation trends and other components such as pressure and humidity level in the surrounding environment. Besides, the irregular weather patterns, retreating of global ice sheets, and the corresponding elevated sea level rise are among the most renowned international and domestic effects of climate change (Lipczynska-Kochany 2018; Michel et al. 2021; Murshed and Dao 2020).

Climate change is a phenomenon, or rather a set of phenomena, which has almost unanimously been recognized as being practical and affecting the environment and populations globally (Kellstedt et al. 2008).



Agroecology

The term agroecology, which appeared primarily as a natural science field at the start of the 20th century, had its scope continuously widened, expanded and changed in different continent during the last 100 years (Wezel et al. 2009; Argüello 2015, Altieri et al. 2017, Toledo et al. 2017). The word agroecology has been first introduced in the scientific publications by Bersin (1928, 1930) and despite the growing number of publications, there is still debate on its exact definitions.

At the genesis of agroecology, it focused mainly on the farm level solutions, or the farm agroecosystem. This approach encouraged farmers to substitute the inputs and practices of conventional monoculture-based industrial farming and move towards certifiable organic production systems (Bersin 1928, 1930).

From the 1990s, the definition of agroecology included the ecology of the entire food system. By its meaning, the agroecosystem was no longer just the farm, but needed to include all aspects and participants in the food system (Francis et al. 2003). The finding of Gliessman (2007), agroecology became a way of building integrated, interlinked and relationship-based market systems that are equitable, just, and accessible for all. As Wezel et al. (2009) advocated later that agroecology comprises three interlinked and complementary approaches: agroecology "as a scientific discipline," "as a set of practices," and "as a movement." According to FAO. (1996) and Fischer et al. (2005), the concept of agroecology is a relatively standardised biophysical climate-soil-landscape framework that may benefit long-term agricultural production. Others stated that it is a much broader approach which helps to achieve sustainable food systems through ecological principles (Francis et al. 2003).

As the concept of agroecology has been strengthened during the last decades, thus the agroecology has taken a political economy focus in order to confront and develop alternatives to the political and economic power that has created the "lock-ins" (IPES-Food 2016) that keep food systems from changing (Gliessman 2015).

The official definition of agroecology has evolved to the following (Gliessman 2018):

"Agroecology is the integration of research, education, action and change that brings sustainability to all parts of the food system: ecological, economic, and social. It is transdisciplinary in that it values all forms of knowledge and experience in food system change. It is participatory in that it requires the involvement of all stakeholders from the farm to the table and everyone in between. And it is action-oriented because it confronts the economic and political power structures of the current industrial food system with alternative social structures and policy action. The approach is grounded in ecological thinking where a holistic, systems-level understanding of food system sustainability is required."

Regenerative/Circular farming

1979 was the year when the definitions of regenerative agriculture (RA) were first introduced by Gabel (1979) and then Rodale in 1983 further articulated the concept of regenerative farming. They found that RA includes (i) avoiding or reducing tillage of soil, (ii) using cover crops for maintaining and boosting the soil quality, (iii) fostering plant diversity, and (iv) harmonising the livestock and cropping system. The new holistic approach with a focus on environmental and social improvements considered the use of "internal" resources available



on the farm instead of imported energy "external" resources including chemical fertilizers and pesticides (Rodale 1985, 1986).

Since the introduction of the first definition, other concepts of RA have been developed by various researchers. Francis et al. (1986) proposed again that RA emphasises the use of resources found on the farm while restricting the use of synthetic inputs. The result of Duchin (2017) uses the term to refer to annual cropping systems including at least four of six sustainable practices. According to Sherwood and Uphoff (2000) and Rhodes (2017), RA is a biological principles-based system enhancing not only environmental management but also productivity.

RA is a tool for using different farming techniques (Duncan 2015) in order to restore and realise the potential of damaged landscapes (Francis and Harwood 1985; Massy 2013, 2017; Wahl 2016). Later and Malik (2014) and Elevitch et al. (2018) highlighted that RA is a dynamically advanced modified agricultural technique involving the use of organic farming methods while supporting the capacity for self-renewal and resiliency, contributing to soil health, increasing water percolation and retention, enhancing and conserving biodiversity, and sequestering carbon by the soil.

There is currently no uniformly accepted definition on regenerative agriculture therefore four widely-used, and accepted definitions on regenerative agriculture were identified by trans4num project which cover all aspects of RA:

- 1. "Regenerative organic agriculture is marked by tendencies towards closed nutrient loops, greater diversity in the biological community, fewer annuals and more perennials, and greater reliance on internal rather than external resources." (Rodale Institute 2014).
- 2. "Regenerative agricultural includes the following: (i) contribute to generating/building soils and soil fertility and health; (ii) increase water percolation, water retention, and clean and safe water runoff; (iii) increase biodiversity and ecosystem health and resiliency; and (iv) invert the carbon emissions of our current agriculture to one of remarkably significant carbon sequestration thereby cleansing the atmosphere of legacy levels of CO₂." (Kastner 2016).
- "Unifying principles consistent across regenerative farming systems include: (1) abandoning tillage (or actively rebuilding soil communities following a tillage event);
 (2) eliminating spatio-temporal events of bare soil; (3) fostering plant diversity on the farm; and (4) integrating livestock and cropping operations on the land." (LaCanne et al. 2018).
- 4. Schreefel et al. (2020) proposed a provisional definition of RA as "an approach to farming that uses soil conservation as the entry point to regenerate and contribute to multiple provisioning, regulating and supporting services, with the objective that this will enhance not only the environmental, but also the social and economic dimensions of sustainable food production".



Restoration ecology

Restoration ecology is a scientific discipline that focuses on restoring ecosystems that have been damaged or destroyed by human activities, natural disasters, or other disturbances. The goal of restoration ecology is to return a damaged ecosystem to a state that is as close as possible to its original, pre-disturbance condition. This involves not only restoring the physical and biological components of the ecosystem, but also restoring the ecosystem's function and resilience (Cairns and John 1996).

Restoration ecology draws on principles from ecology, biology, geology, hydrology, and other fields to develop strategies for restoring ecosystems. These strategies may involve reintroducing native species, managing invasive species, altering physical features of the landscape (such as hydrology), and other techniques. Restoration ecologists also consider the social and economic context in which restoration is taking place, and work to engage stakeholders and build support for restoration efforts (Howell and John 2012).

Restoration ecology is important because human activities have caused widespread damage to ecosystems around the world. By restoring damaged ecosystems, we can help to reverse some of the negative impacts of human activities, such as habitat loss, fragmentation, and degradation, and promote biodiversity, ecological functioning, and resilience.

The goal of restoration ecology is not just to return an ecosystem to its pre-disturbance state, but also to restore its ecological functions and services, such as nutrient cycling, carbon sequestration, and water filtration. Restoration ecologists work to identify the causes of ecosystem degradation and develop strategies to address these causes, such as controlling invasive species, reducing pollution, or reintroducing native species (Falk et al. 2006).

Restoration ecology also recognizes the importance of engaging with local communities and stakeholders in the restoration process. Successful restoration efforts often require the cooperation and support of a wide range of actors, including landowners, government agencies, NGOs, and the broader public. Restoration ecologists work to build relationships with these stakeholders and to develop strategies that are socially and economically viable, as well as ecologically sound (Balaguer et al. 2014).

Overall, the concept of restoration ecology is based on the recognition that humans have had a profound impact on the world's ecosystems, and that we have a responsibility to work towards repairing the damage that has been done. By restoring ecosystems, we can help to promote biodiversity, ecological functioning, and human well-being, and create a more sustainable and resilient future for all.

Nutrient flow

Nutrient flow is a term used to describe the movement of essential nutrients, such as carbon, nitrogen, phosphorus, and potassium, through ecosystems. This flow is fundamental to the functioning of ecosystems as it provides the nutrients necessary for the growth and survival of plants and animals. The flow of nutrients through ecosystems is a cycle, which involves both biotic and abiotic processes (Bormann and Likens 1967).

In the biotic process, plants absorb nutrients from the soil through their roots and use them to grow and reproduce. Animals, in turn, consume plants and other animals, thereby obtaining nutrients. When plants and animals die, their bodies decompose, releasing nutrients back into



the soil where they can be taken up by other plants. This process of nutrient flow is known as the biogeochemical cycle, which is an essential component of the overall functioning of ecosystems (Lavelle et al. 2005).

Abiotic processes also influence nutrient flow. Weathering and erosion, for example, can cause the release of nutrients into the environment. Nutrients can also be taken up by water and carried through aquatic ecosystems, where they play a critical role in the growth and reproduction of aquatic organisms.

Human activities can disrupt nutrient flow and lead to nutrient imbalances in ecosystems. The use of fertilizers in agriculture can cause an overabundance of certain nutrients, such as nitrogen and phosphorus, which can contribute to harmful algal blooms in aquatic ecosystems. Similarly, urban development can disrupt the natural flow of nutrients and contribute to nutrient pollution (Smaling et al. 1999).

It is essential to understand nutrient flow and its importance in ecosystem functioning to promote sustainable land use practices. By maintaining a balance of nutrients in ecosystems, we can help to promote biodiversity, ecological functioning, and human well-being. Sustainable land use practices, such as sustainable agriculture, conservation, and restoration, can help to maintain healthy nutrient flows in ecosystems (Ohkuma 2003).

In summary, nutrient flow refers to the movement of essential nutrients, such as carbon, nitrogen, phosphorus, and potassium, through ecosystems. It is a critical process in ecosystem functioning and involves both biotic and abiotic processes. Human activities can disrupt nutrient flow, but sustainable land use practices can help to promote healthy nutrient flows and maintain the overall health of ecosystems.

(Agro)ecosystem

The concept of agroecosystem refers to the dynamic and interconnected system that encompasses all the biotic and abiotic components within a specific agricultural landscape. An agroecosystem is managed by humans to produce food, fibre, and other agricultural products. The management practices of an agroecosystem can impact the health of the soil, water quality, biodiversity, and the overall sustainability of the agricultural landscape.

The concept of agroecosystem management focuses on optimizing production while minimizing negative impacts on the environment and enhancing the well-being of the people who rely on these systems for their livelihoods. This can be achieved through various management practices, such as crop rotations, intercropping, integrated pest management, and conservation tillage (Cordoba et al. 2020).

Agroecosystems can vary in scale and complexity, from small-scale subsistence agriculture to large-scale commercial farming. They can also vary in terms of the types of crops and animals grown, the use of inputs such as fertilizers and pesticides, and the level of mechanization.

The concept of agroecosystem recognizes that agriculture is not just about producing food, but also about maintaining the health of the soil, water, and biodiversity, and contributing to the social and economic well-being of the communities involved in agricultural production (McPhee et al. 2021).

Agroecosystems can vary in scale, from small-scale subsistence agriculture to large-scale commercial farming, from monoculture to diverse cropping systems, and from conventional



to organic and agroecological practices. The goal of agroecosystem management is to optimize production while minimizing negative impacts on the environment, and to enhance the wellbeing of the people who rely on these systems for their livelihoods.

A few definitions of agroecosystem were determined:

- 1. The Food and Agriculture Organization (FAO) of the United Nations defines an agroecosystem as "a spatially and functionally coherent unit of agricultural production, along with its associated biodiversity and environmental resources." This definition emphasizes the interconnectedness of different components within an agroecosystem (FAO, 2014).
- 2. The United States Department of Agriculture (USDA) defines an agroecosystem as "a dynamic, complex of plant, animal, and microorganism communities interacting with the non-living environment as a functional unit." This definition highlights the fact that an agroecosystem is not just about the crops or animals being produced, but also includes the broader environment and ecological processes (USDA, 2007).
- 3. According to the Encyclopedia of Ecology, an agroecosystem is "a managed ecosystem that includes agricultural crops and/or animals, as well as the physical and biotic components that interact with them." This definition emphasizes the human management and intervention involved in shaping agroecosystems.
- 4. "The science and practice of applying ecological concepts, principles and knowledge (i.e., the interactions of, and explanations for, the diversity, abundance and activities of organisms) to the study, design and management of sustainable agroecosystems. It includes the roles of human beings as a central organism in agroecology by way of social and economic processes in farming systems. Agroecology examines the roles and interactions among all relevant biophysical, technical and socioeconomic components of farming systems and their surrounding landscapes" (IPBES, 2018).
- 5. "Agroecology is understood here as "the science of applying ecological concepts and principles to the design and management of sustainable food systems" (Gliessman, 2007). It encompasses various approaches to maximise biodiversity and stimulate interactions between different plants and species, as part of holistic strategies to build long-term fertility, healthy agro-ecosystems and secure livelihoods. It also represents a social movement; this usage will be specified where relevant" (IPES-Food, 2016).
- 6. "Agroecology is considered jointly as a science, a practice and a social movement. It encompasses the whole food system from the soil to the organization of human societies. It is value-laden and based on core principles. As a science, it gives priority to action research, holistic and participatory approaches, and transdisciplinarity that is inclusive of different knowledge systems. As a practice, it is based on sustainable use of local renewable resources, local farmers' knowledge and priorities, wise use of biodiversity to provide ecosystem services and resilience, and solutions that provide multiple benefits (environmental, economic, social) from local to global. As a movement, it defends smallholders and family farming, farmers and rural communities, food sovereignty, local and short food supply chains, diversity of indigenous seeds and breeds, healthy and quality food. Agroecology acknowledges that the whole is more than the sum of its parts and hence fosters interactions



between actors in science, practice and movements, by facilitating knowledge sharing and action" (Agroecology 2018).

7. "Agroecology is an alternative model for developing agriculture. The model is based on each farm being an integrated ecosystem, in which crops, plants and animals interact to create favourable conditions for cultivation. This alternative is knowledgeintensive, requiring farmers to have a lot of knowledge about the functioning of various components in the ecological system, as well as an ability to create synergies between plants, insects, crops and soil fertility. The model also rests on traditional farming methods. Agroecology is a real alternative to conventional agricultural production, and a model that safeguards both the climate and social development. However, it requires civil society to push for change from the bottom up in Uganda, and for markets worldwide to transition to supporting alternative ways of farming the land" (Lund University 2018).

Overall, an agroecosystem is a highly interconnected and managed system that includes crops, animals, soil, water, and other environmental factors, all of which interact with each other in complex ways.

Socio-ecological and socio-economic contexts

Nature-based solutions offer a range of socio-economic benefits that can help address environmental and societal challenges while promoting sustainable development. Nature-based solutions can enhance ecosystems and species by increasing habitat diversity, restoring aquatic ecosystems and wetlands and improving the quality and reliability of water (Abell et al. 2017).

Socio-ecological context

The socio-ecological context of NBS refers to the interaction between social and ecological systems. NBS are often designed to address environmental problems, such as climate change and biodiversity loss, but they must also take into account the social and cultural contexts in which they are implemented. For example, urban green spaces can provide multiple benefits, such as improved air quality and climate regulation, but they also play an important role in community building and social cohesion (Pataki et al. 2011).

Additionally, the success of NBS is often dependent on the ecological context in which they are implemented. For example, the restoration of degraded ecosystems can provide multiple benefits, such as carbon sequestration and improved water quality, but the success of restoration efforts is often dependent on the availability of suitable habitats and the presence of key species (Chapin et al. 2010).

A few examples:

- 1. Green jobs: NBS can create new employment opportunities, particularly in rural areas. For example, the restoration of degraded landscapes, such as forests or wetlands, can create jobs in tree planting, soil conservation, and ecological monitoring.
- 2. Payment for ecosystem services (PES): PES schemes reward individuals or communities for providing ecosystem services such as carbon sequestration, water filtration, or biodiversity conservation. These schemes can provide a source of income for landowners and contribute to the conservation of natural resources.



- 3. Ecotourism: NBS can create opportunities for nature-based tourism, generating revenue for local communities. For example, the establishment of nature reserves or the restoration of degraded habitats can attract visitors interested in wildlife watching, hiking, or birding.
- 4. Co-benefits: NBS can deliver multiple benefits beyond environmental outcomes. For example, urban green spaces can provide recreational opportunities, improve mental health, and reduce urban heat island effects.
- 5. Social equity: NBS can address social and economic inequalities by providing access to natural resources and ecosystem services for marginalized communities. For example, the restoration of urban parks or green corridors can enhance the quality of life in low-income neighbourhoods.
- 6. Livelihood diversification: NBS can provide alternative sources of income for communities that rely on natural resources for their livelihoods. For example, sustainable forestry practices can provide income from non-timber forest products such as mushrooms, berries, or medicinal plants.
- 7. Green infrastructure: NBS can provide cost-effective solutions for infrastructure development. For example, using natural systems such as wetlands or mangroves for coastal protection can be cheaper and more effective than building seawalls.

In 2017, study of Davis et al. identified key concepts and terms related to NBS aimed at improving human well-being through the appropriate management of ecosystem services and natural capital (Potschin et al. 2016). The concepts and terms identified were as follows (Table 2).

Concepts and terminology relating to NBS	Societal challenges potentially addressed by NBS (adapted from the SDGs and Raymond et al. 2017 for use in NATURVATION)	
 Green (and blue) infrastructure Ecosystem-based adaptation Ecosystem-based mitigation Ecosystem-based approach Natural water retention measures Ecological engineering Working with nature Nature-based infrastructure 	 Climate action for adaptation, resilience and mitigation Water management Coastal resilience and marine protection Green space, habitats and biodiversity Environmental quality, including air quality and waste management Regeneration, land use and urban development Inclusive and effective governance Social justice, inequality and social cohesion Health and well-being Economic development and decent employment Cultural heritage and cultural diversity Sustainable consumption and production 	

Table 2 Concepts related to NB	S and societal challenges addressed.	Source: Davis et al. (2017)
	s and societal chancinges addressed.	5001 cci Dutis ct un (2017)

Socio-economic context

The socio-economic context of NBS refers to the social and economic factors that influence the success of NBS. For example, the availability of financial resources can be a critical factor in determining whether NBS are implemented and maintained over time. In addition, the



cultural and institutional context in which NBS are implemented can play an important role in their success. For example, in some cases, traditional ecological knowledge can be an important factor in the success of NBS (Berkes et al., 2000).

Another important socio-economic factor is the involvement of stakeholders in the planning and implementation of NBS. Stakeholder involvement can help ensure that NBS meet the needs of the local community and are supported by key stakeholders (Borgström et al. 2015).

2.5 Scientific areas related to NBS

In 2016 the International Union for Conservation of Nature and Natural Resources (IUCN) defined nature-based solutions as an overarching concept that encompasses approaches from many different areas of scientific research, practice or policy, but with a common characteristic of focusing on ecosystem services and addressing societal challenges (Cohen-Shacham et al. 2016).

A Web of science query by SZE in March 2023 resulted in 2,182 publications containing the term "nature-based solutions" (Figure 9). The distribution of these by scientific area is shown in the figure below. It can be seen that the majority of the results, about 50%, are from the fields of environmental sciences and environmental studies (25%), with other prominent fields being Green Sustainable Science Technology (22%), Water Resources (19%), Environmental Engineering (almost 12%) and Ecology (11%). Other fields below 10% cover topics ranging from e.g. Ecology to Urban Studies, Meteorology and Forestry. (Remark: The Web of Science database does not explain the difference between the terms "environmental sciences" and "environmental studies", nor does it specify their definition.)



Figure 9 Web of science query 2023.03.28 (The areas on the chart are not strictly proportional to the values of each entry)

2.6 IUCN Global Standard for NBS

One of the world's most comprehensive and inclusive international initiatives to create a standardised global NBS definition was launched by IUCN in 2020. IUCN members are states,



government agencies, subnational governments, political/economic integration organisations, national and international NGOs, and other organisations committed to the conservation of nature.

The aim of creating the Global Standard was to create a common, user-friendly framework for the verification, design and scaling up of Nature-based Solutions.

"Nature-based solutions are actions to protect, sustainably manage and restore natural and modified ecosystems in ways that address societal challenges effectively and adaptively, to provide both human well-being and biodiversity benefits." (IUCN 2016)

About IUCN

"IUCN is a membership union made up of government and civil society organizations that helps promote human progress, economic development, and nature conservation. It was established in 1948 and is now the world's largest environmental network, with over 1,400member organizations and 15,000 experts. It provides conservation data, assessments, and analysis, and serves as a trusted repository of best practices and international standards." (IUCN 2020b)

IUCN's innovative conservation initiatives for protecting, managing and restoring the environment over decades are delivering tangible and sustainable benefits for people. This approach has become known as nature-based solutions (Figure 10).



Figure 10 "Nature-based Solutions are actions to protect, sustainably manage and restore natural and modified ecosystems in ways that address societal challenges effectively and adaptively, to provide both human wellbeing and biodiversity benefits" (IUCN 2020b)



Development of the global standard

The IUCN first referred to NBS in a position paper for the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (IUCN 2009), after which the term has been quickly taken up by policy, viewing NBS as an innovative mean to create jobs and growth part of a green economy (Eggermont et al. 2015).

The introduction to the IUCN Global Standard for NBS points out that there was an urgent need for a standardised framework for nature-based solutions to ensure consistent and effective implementation of NBS projects. Without such a standard, NBS applications could be inconsistent and ungrounded (IUCN 2020b).

The IUCN Global Standard for Nature-based Solutions provides a systematic learning framework that enables lessons to improve and evolve applications, leading to greater confidence among decision-makers. The Standard also provides an opportunity to create a global user community that can guide implementation on the ground, accelerate policy development and generate conservation science on NBS. Ultimately, the Standard aims to provide a common understanding and shared vision of NBS to achieve a just and sustainable world (IUCN 2020b).

The document Guidance for using the IUCN Global Standard for Nature-based Solutions discusses how several conservation approaches developed since the 1990s, including Forest Landscape Restoration, Sustainable Land Management, and Ecological Restoration, have been able to deliver conservation outcomes that provide tangible benefits to society, such as jobs, improved land productivity, erosion control, and carbon sequestration. The NBS concept "was developed as part of an ongoing paradigm shift that began in the 1980s in which people are viewed as proactively protecting, managing, or restoring ecosystems to address major societal challenges".

Over the past decade, NBS has gathered momentum and has been incorporated into policy, economic plans, and national strategies for biodiversity and climate change. With this growing appreciation and investment, there was an increasing need to define the term. The document highlights the importance of the IUCN Global Standard for NBS in providing a standardized framework, which will help to ensure consistent and effective deployment of NBS projects, leading to greater confidence among decision-makers and a shared vision for a just and sustainable world (IUCN 2020b).

Aim of the IUCN Standard

"The Standard will enable practitioners to standardise the design and implementation of NBS, by: 1) Setting a common basis of understanding for what an NBS is and is not; 2) Contributing to transformational changes, by improving NBS practice, and supporting the clarification and development of NBS-related policy" (IUCN 2020b)

The Standard helps users design and verify NBS to solve societal challenges. It is a facilitative Standard that avoids rigid normative framing and definitive thresholds. Instead, it supports users to continuously improve the effectiveness, sustainability, and adaptability of their NBS interventions based on feedback from actual and potential users (IUCN 2020b).

The Standard consists of 8 criteria and 28 indicators built on the concept's principles and feedback from consultations with stakeholders and refer to the following aspects (Sowińska-



Świerkosz and García 2022): "(1) address societal challenges; (2) landscape scale of intervention; (3) biodiversity gain; (4) economic viability; (5) governance capability; (6) equitably balance trade-offs; (7) adaptive management; (8) mainstreamed within an appropriate jurisdictional context."

3. NBS in agriculture

3.1 The role and potential for NBS in agriculture

According to (Miralles-Wilhelm 2021) NBS encompass a broad range of practices that can be deployed directly in the context of the production of food and fibre, either by agricultural practitioners or on lands or waters used for production.

Van Doorn et al. (2016) stated that nature-based agriculture is a form of sustainable agriculture and part of a resilient ecosystem and food system. It makes optimal use of ecological processes and integrates them into farming practice. Nature-based agriculture also directly contributes to the quality of the natural environment itself, producing food within the boundaries set by the environment and having a positive impact on biodiversity.

Agriculture NBS (Ag-NBS) are an effective, long-term, cost-efficient approach to tackling sustainable land and water resources management and climate change. These practices can help improve water availability and quality as well as restore ecosystems and soils worldwide, while offering substantial health co-benefits and achieving global food security. These strategies can contribute to the attainment of multiple goals of the 2030 Sustainable Development Agenda.

Farmers and food producers are important stewards of our ecosystem and on the frontlines of climate change, and play an important role in developing and implementing environmental and agriculture solutions. They can help address the planet's water challenges and unearth sustainable alternatives to producing our food. Farmers are great drivers of Ag-NBS as they can combine their traditional knowledge with new skills and training to safeguard the ecosystems on which our food production depends (Iseman and Miralles-Wilhelm 2021).

According to the FAO knowledge products addressing NBS in agriculture says that Agriculture Nature-based Solutions can provide a triple benefit: improving the livelihoods of farmers and the resilience of agriculture, mitigating and adapting to climate change through soil, wetlands and forests carbon sequestration, and enhancing nature and biodiversity. In order to sustain the future of food systems, agricultural producers around the globe are poised to lead a transition to production practices that regenerate and restore nature while enhancing efficient and sustainable food systems (Iseman and Miralles-Wilhelm 2021).

Resilient food production

Nature-based solutions can help farmers adapt and ensure food production is more resilient to future weather extremes like droughts, heavy storms, or coastal flooding by enhancing soil health and water retention, reducing soil erosion and buffering shorelines, as well as enhancing food and nutrition security through diversified production systems and sources of income. They can reduce use of chemical additives, which reduces production costs and creates safer foods.



Mitigating climate change

Nature-based solutions can reduce carbon emissions from the food sector and store carbon, most significantly by avoiding deforestation and conversion of natural habitat, by conserving, restoring and sustainably managing aquatic ecosystems (e.g. watersheds, wetlands, coastal mangroves, seagrass meadows and coral reefs) to enhance their role in carbon sequestration, and also by changing crop residue, cover crop and tilling practices in ways that enhance the carbon retained in plants and soils (Griscom et al. 2017).

Enhancing nature and biodiversity

Nature-based solutions can enhance ecosystems and species by increasing habitat diversity, restoring aquatic ecosystems and wetlands and improving the quality and reliability of water (Abbel et al. 2007).

3.2 Dimensions of NBS in agriculture

According to van Doorn et al. 2016 the NBS in agriculture has the following dimensions:

Biodiversity contributes to implementing a resilient agriculture and food system through developing new innovative farming practices, including natural prevention of disease and pests, pollination, the supply and treatment of water, maintain of natural soil fertility and a good soil structure. In the line with these practices, the nature-based agriculture offers different tools to the farmers in the field of conservation, improvement and exploitation of functional agro-biodiversity and the ecosystem services, thus helping the renew of industrialised agricultural ecosystem.

By capitalizing the tools of functional agro-biodiversity and ecosystem services helps to aim at the close the carbon loops with more efficient use of natural resources including the introduction of decreased farming practices. Thus, resulting minimum environmental impact on natural environment causing by farming practices, and indicating positive consequences for specific species on the farm and in the surrounding countryside.

By boosting the implementation of the green infrastructures at farms, contributes to maintaining the construction and conservation of landscape elements (important for flora and fauna). The agricultural built environmental and its management contributes to the survival of meadow and farmland birds and other farmland species.

The figure below shows that a significant aspect of the application of NBS is the consideration of cost-effectiveness (Figure 11) while protecting and improving biodiversity. The use of NBS can lead to an improvement in biodiversity on the farm and in the area, which contributes to an increase in the resilience of farming and thus to a sound income model.





Figure 11 Links and interactions of nature-based agriculture (Erisman et al. 2017)

According to the FAO knowledge products, addressing NBS in agriculture that include a literature review of more than 300 papers, agricultural nature-based solutions can be divided into 2 dimensions if it is implemented in at production or at landscape or ecosystem scale (Iseman and Miralles-Wilhelm 2021). According to EU supporting policy the above-mentioned FAO document is proposed as main resources so the above mentioned 2 dimensions: agriculture production and agricultural landscapes are used as main pathways in this document.

3.3 NBS in agricultural production

NBS in Agricultural Production (including Forestry, Fisheries and Aquaculture)

Numerous Nature-Based Solutions are witnessed in agricultural production and pasture management domains and are predominantly executed by farmers or growers, as illustrated in Figure 12. These endeavours could also entail significant economic gains for cultivators in terms of amplified crop yields and reduced expenses, alongside wider-ranging societal advantages. If the advantages gathered by landlords prove to be satisfactory, the provision of technical guidance and interim financing might be adequate to yield a sustainable impact. A multitude of such practices are consonant with the nascent domain of praxis referred to as regenerative agriculture. The concept of conservation agriculture is widely recognized and encompasses a repertoire of agricultural techniques including the cultivation of cover crops and transitioning to farming methods that involve minimal or zero tillage. The aforementioned techniques are implemented on an estimated global scale of 125 million hectares, as suggested by Friedrich et al. (2012). In conjunction with regenerative agriculture, the aforementioned practices endeavour to optimize the innate processes which serve as the groundwork for agricultural efficacy. These practices form an essential component of extant sustainable management strategies and environmentally conscious methodologies targeting climate change mitigation. Agriculturists have the potential to enhance nutrient management processes via diversification of crops, specifically by incorporating legumes into their farming practices. Furthermore, biochar has demonstrated exceptional efficacy in terms of augmenting carbon sequestration and storage in soil. In addition, integrating trees within



cultivated land can prove beneficial and contribute positively towards sustainable agricultural practices. The agricultural practices of grazing and animal husbandry entail various measures, including optimizing grazing intensity, incorporating forest grazing as a means of providing sustenance for the animals, installing shelter and barriers for shielding them, integrating legumes within pastures, and enhancing forage quality. Furthermore, it is worth considering nature-based strategies, specifically those related to enhancement. Overall, the aforementioned measures serve to mitigate carbon emissions and enhance soil carbon sequestration, all the while yielding considerable advantages in terms of water quality and availability, habitat preservation, and air quality. Within the realm of forestry and diligent wood handling, there exist diverse natural approaches capable of enhancing productivity and fostering advantageous social outcomes. The management of natural forests entails the implementation of several strategies, such as elevated logging rotation, adoption of lowimpact logging approaches, and voluntary certification practices aimed at promoting environmental sustainability. There exist several practices that can enhance the management of plantations. These include employing multicropping instead of monocropping, selecting native over exotic plant species, incorporating repeating disturbance patterns, extending the duration of crop rotations, and advocating for early thinning. Finally, the utilization of more efficient cookstoves and alternate sources of fuel can be considered as a viable solution to prevent the act of deforestation attributed to wood fuel, consequently preserving the natural material of woodlands for the sustenance of biodiversity and human livelihood. In addition to arable land, there exist nature-oriented approaches that can be utilized within freshwater, coastal, and marine ecosystems to enhance food production and promote carbon sequestration. The farming of mussels and seaweed provides a worldwide opportunity to reinstate coastal habitats and its related ecosystem functions, along with catering to the food security objectives of low- and middle-income nations, as illustrated by Theuerkauf et al. (2013). In the year 2019, significant events occurred, warranting extensive analysis and discussion within academic circles. Within the Mediterranean region, planners collaborated closely with artisanal fishers in order to formulate an approach to managing fisheries that is grounded in the fundamentals of ecosystem preservation alongside the preservation of commercial resources.

Grazing optimization

Grazing optimization defined as the offtake rate that leads to maximum forage production (Henderson et al., 2015). This prescribes a decrease in stocking rates in areas that are overgrazed and an increase in stocking rates in areas that are undergrazed, but with the net result of increased forage offtake and livestock production.

Improved rice cultivation in China

Water management techniques such as alternate wetting and drying and midseason drainage limit the time rice paddies spend in an anaerobic state thereby reduce annual methane emissions while at the same time saving water (Sander et al. 2016). Additional management techniques applied to upland rice such as fertilizer applications, residue and tillage management practices reduce the amounts of nitrogen and carbon emissions.

Biochar

Amount of crop residue available for pyrolysis, used as a soil amendment for both carbon sequestration and soil health benefits.



Cropland nutrient management

Business as usual nutrient budgets who use a range of development scenarios to project total food and feed demand to 2050 (Bodirsky et al. 2014).

Conservation agriculture

Cultivation of cover crops in fallow periods between main crops. Prevents losses of arable land while regenerating degraded lands. Promotes maintenance of a permanent soil cover, minimum soil disturbance, and diversification of plant species. Enhances biodiversity and natural biological processes above and below the ground surface, which contribute to increased water and nutrient use efficiency and to improved and sustained crop production.

Trees in croplands

Includes windbreaks (shelterbelts), alley cropping, and farmer managed natural regeneration (FMNR), each of which was restricted to non-overlapping relevant cropland areas.

Improved plantations

Extending harvest rotation lengths on intensively managed production forests (i.e. plantations) subject to even-aged stand management.



Figure 12 NBS in agricultural production (FAO, 2020)

3.4 NBS in agricultural landscapes

Alternative NBS are executed on a landscape or ecosystem level, along with various stakeholders encompassing governmental entities, corporate entities, and private landowners. The above-mentioned NBS continue to be of great importance in the field of agriculture, as they have the potential to deliver significant benefits in the areas of food and fibre production, with the active involvement of agricultural producers as partners in their implementation. Despite the implementation of NBS in a single farm or local project, it is crucial to plan the implementation of these solutions at the landscape level, in order to



optimise the potential benefits and analyse the impacts when scaling up actions (Cohen et al. 2016).

As an example of landscape-level NBS, the conservation and safeguarding of ecosystems may be implemented to sustain their inherent functions and provision of services. The aforementioned comprises the potential preventive measures against grassland conversion, forest conversion, and associated impacts on wetlands as well as other aquatic ecosystems as posited by Narayan and colleagues in 2017. Frequently, these measures are achieved by means of establishing and enforcing areas that are safeguarded, although they may also be allocated on agricultural lands. Land managers have the ability to undertake various land management strategies such as reforestation, afforestation, fire management, and restoration of coastal wetlands, as well as aquatic ecosystems, peatlands, and forests on public, tribal, or private lands. In regards to marine environments, the employment of area-based fishery management strategies has the potential to enhance the cohesion and amalgamation of preservation seascapes on a larger spatial scope. The implementation of these measures can offer effective nature-based approaches to the conservation and restoration of ecosystems that sustain commercial fish production, safeguard the preservation or rehabilitation of population numbers and mitigate a diverse spectrum of anthropogenic stresses, where deemed necessary. The Food and Agriculture Organization (FAO) is extending its assistance to its Members by promoting cognizance regarding the efficacy of implementing spatial fishery management measures in augmenting the vigour, output, and adaptability of aquatic ecosystems. Whilst certain measures may be implemented in productive landscapes or seascapes, there is potential for trade-offs to occur. The implementation of these measures can yield significant gains for food production, particularly in the areas of water quality and regulation of flow. Nonetheless, their adoption is typically motivated by the more extensive societal benefits they generate, which can pose a considerable obstacle for producers. NBS in agricultural landscapes, even at the level of individual farms or localized initiatives, must also be planned with an eye to landscape-level deployment, which may involve foregoing production in certain areas, and often require funding and implementation that exceed the capacity and scope of an individual agricultural practitioner. Several of these measures conform to the standards and requirements of "other effective area-based conservation measures" (OECMs), which are spatial strategies intended to facilitate conservation of biodiversity in its natural habitat. This approach (Iseman and Miralles-Wilhelm 2021) is an essential component of the Aichi Target 11 of the Convention on Biological Diversity (CBD).

4. Conclusions

The goal of this document on conceptual grounds and common understandings is for project partners from different backgrounds to have the same understanding of guiding concepts and principles, which will help to communicate and cooperate effectively.

In the document we addressed

- Different approaches and definitions of NBS,
- Typology of NBS,
- Key concepts connected to NBS,
- The role and potential of NBS in agriculture,



• Different types of NBS in agriculture including agricultural production and agricultural landscapes.

The paper summarises the state of art in NBS and related fields, with the aim of facilitating the understanding between partners and contributing to specific objective interdisciplinary and transdisciplinary systemic research conducive to a transformative learning approach towards sustainable agricultural practices.

We have collected the concepts and areas discussed in the document, which are presented in the following context (Figure 14). The figure interprets NBS in the socio-ecological and socio-economic context. We have focused exclusively on the agricultural interpretation of NBS, including agroecology/agroecosystems and, more specifically, regenerative or circular farming. As a borderline, we have included restoration ecology, which also applies NBS, and the also overlapping area of organic farming.



Figure 13 Conceptual framework of NBS in agriculture under the auspices of the trans4num project

4.1 Knowledge gaps connected to NBS in agriculture identified by trans4num project

As an emerging scientific concept, there is still a great deal of parallel, sometimes contradictory or unresolved, uncertain information about NBS. We have tried to summarise this to the best of our knowledge, but the complexity of the subject raises challenges:



- 1. NBS does not have a precise definition that is generally accepted in the scientific community yet. In this document, the most commonly cited definitions and presented some studies have been selected aimed at finding their common ground.
- 2. During the preparation of the document, questions were also raised as to which of the various NBS classifications and categorisations available should be presented, and into which classification the NBS methods to be tested in the trans4num project could be placed.
- 3. Enhancing comprehension of the connections among biodiversity, ecosystem functions, and ecosystem services is imperative in crafting NBS. The research agenda should prioritize aspects related to the efficiency and resilience properties of systems, surpassing its previous considerations. The utilization of genetic resources alongside the preservation of species and community diversity is advocated as a valuable means for deploying Nature-based Solutions that support adaptation and sustainability.
- 4. The examination of NBS from an economic perspective necessitates a comprehension of ecological production functions and associated uncertainties. Furthermore, the evaluation of NBS benefits typically spans a more extended time horizon compared to conventional approaches.
- 5. The domain of ecosystem functioning exhibits significant lacunae in our fundamental understanding. Specifically, uncertainties prevailing in this research area pertain to the durability of agro-ecological, forestry, and fishery management approaches envisaged on the principles of nature, principally stemming from the inadequacy of mechanistic and long-term data on biodiversity feedback, recycling loops, and trade-offs between various ecosystem functionalities.
- 6. The issue pertaining to the efficacy of interconnected small-scale NBS, colloquially referred to as "networks" in addition to their amalgamated configurations with large-scale NBS, is still indeterminate and must receive attention in subsequent studies.
- 7. One of the foremost challenges in the adoption of NBS is the concomitant management of diverse socio-ecological objectives such as the optimization of (1) biodiversity, specifically native species, species diversity, and endangered species; (2) regulatory services, including flood and erosion control, wildfire management, and pest outbreak prevention; and (3) cultural services, comprising recreational spaces, aesthetic landscapes, as well as zones for contemplative and meditative pursuits. Efficient management practices necessitate the adoption of a transdisciplinary approach, which involves the active engagement of natural and social scientists, land use managers, non-governmental environmental organizations, and local residents, among other relevant stakeholders. The overarching objective of this approach is to identify and blend diverse perspectives and goals, which may be potentially incompatible, in order to achieve a cohesive management strategy. A requisite element is a meticulously organized and compliant socio-ecological evaluation



structure, which employs techniques to amalgamate scientific knowledge and objectives alongside communal perspectives.

8. The present study contends that the evaluation plans for NBS must encompass a comprehensive appraisal of the positive and negative impacts, with due consideration to the degree of effectuation across diverse demographic and ethnic cohorts.

Acknowledgment:

The authors are deeply grateful for the valuable contributions of Andrea Knierim, Adrian Müller, Morten Graversgaard, Simon Willcock, Friederike Selensky, Mark Redman, Qirui Li, and Steven Emery.



5. References

- 1. Abbel R, Allan JD, Lehner B (2007) Unlocking the potential of protected areas for freshwater. Biological Conservation 134(1):48-63
- 2. Adger WN, Arnell NW, Tompkins EL (2005) Successful adaptation to climate change across scales. Glob Environ Chang 15(2):77–86
- 3. Agroecology (2018) Our understanding of agroecology. Webpage. A European association for Agroecology
- 4. Altieri MA, Nicholls CI (2017) Agroecology: A brief account of its origins and currents of thought in latin america. Agroecol. Sustain. Food Syst. 2017, 41, 231–237.
- 5. Anderson V, Gough WA (2022) A Typology of Nature-Based Solutions for Sustainable Development: An Analysis of Form, Function, Nomenclature, and Associated Applications. Land 11(7):1072
- 6. Argüello A (2015) Agroecology: Scientific and technological challenges for agriculture in the 21st century in latin america. Agron. Colomb 33, 391–398.
- 7. Badura T, Lorencová EK, Ferrini S, Vačkářová D (2021) Public support for urban climate adaptation policy through nature-based solutions in Prague
- 8. Balaguer L, Escudero A, Martín-Duque JF, Mola I, Aronson J (2014) The historical reference in restoration ecology: Re-defining a cornerstone concept, Biological Conservation, 176, 12-20.
- Bauduceau N, Berry P, Cecchi C, Elmqvist T, Fernandez M, Hartig T, Krull W, Mayerhofer ENS, Noring L, Raskin-Delisle K, Roozen E, Sutherland W, Tack J (2015) Towards an EU Research and Innovation Policy Agenda for Nature-based Solutions & Re-naturing Cities: Final Report of the Horizon 2020 Expert Group on 'Nature-based Solutions and Renaturing Cities'. Publications Office of the European Union, Brussels.
- 10. Berkes F, Colding J, Folke C (2000) Rediscovery of traditional ecological knowledge as adaptive management. Ecological applications, 10(5):1251-1262.
- 11. Borgström ST, Elmqvist T, Angelstam P (2015) Implementing the ecosystem services concept in planning—Purposes, developments, and challenges. Ecosystem Services, 16:174-181.
- 12. Bormann FH, Likens GE (1967) "Nutrient cycling". Science. 155 (3761): 424–429.
- 13. Brundtland G, Khalid M, Agnelli S, Al-Athel S, Chidzero B, Fadika L, Hauff V, Lang I, Ma SJ, de Botero MM, Singh M, Okita S (1987) Our Common Future: Brundtland Report.
- 14. Cairns J Jr, John RH (1996) Restoration ecology: The state of an emerging field. Annual Review of Energy and the Environment 21:167–189.
- 15. Castellar J, Popartan L, Pueyo-Ros J, Atanasova N, Langergraber G, Saumel I, Corominas L, Comas J, Acuña V (2021) Nature-based solutions in the urban context: terminology, classification and scoring for urban challenges and ecosystem services. Science of The Total Environment 779:146237.
- 16. Centrum News (2020) Instead of a neglected slope, a space for relaxation. The area in Nový Lískovec is waiting for changes.
- 17. Chapin FS, Zavaleta ES, Eviner VT, Naylor RL, Vitousek PM, Reynolds HL, Hooper DU, Lavorel S, Sala OE, Hobbie SE, Mack MC, Díaz S (2000) Consequences of changing biodiversity. Nature, 405(6783):234-242.
- 18. City of Brno (2017) Voda v Brně.



- 19. Cohen-Shacham E, Walters G, Janzen C, Maginnis S (2016) Nature-based solutions to address global societal challenges. IUCN: Gland, Switzerland 97:2016-2036.
- 20. Cohen-Shacham E, Walters G, Janzen C, Maginnis S (eds.) (2016) Nature-based Solutions to address global societal challenges. Gland, Switzerland: IUCN. xiii + 97pp.
- 21. Cordoba C, Triviño C, Toro Calderón JT (2020) Agroecosystem resilience. A conceptual and methodological framework for evaluation. PLoS ONE 15(4): e0220349.
- 22. Davis M, Abhold K, Mederake L, Knoblauch D (2017) Nature-based solutions in European and national policy frameworks. Deliverable 1.5, NATURVATION. Horizon 2020 Grant Agreement No 730243, European Commission, 42 pp.
- 23. Denik (2012) The people of Brno want to attract a beaver. Plants floodplain forest. Urban Nature Atlas.
- 24. Duchin F. (2017) Drawdown the Most Comprehensive Plan Ever Proposed to Reverse GlobalWarming. Science 356:811.
- 25. Duncan T (2015) Case Study: Taranaki farm regenerative agriculture: pathways to integrated ecological farming. In: Chabay I, Frick M, Helgeson J (eds) Land restoration: reclaiming landscapes for a sustainable future. Elsevier Science & Technology
- 26. EC (2021) Science for environment policy: European forests for biodiversity, climate change mitigation and adaptation. European Commission, Directorate-General for Environment, Publications Office of the European Union, Brussels.
- 27. EC (2022) Brief me on nature-based solutions. European Commission. https://knowledge4policy.ec.europa.eu/biodiversity/brief-me-nature-basedsolutions en [Accessed: 28.03.23]
- 28. EEA (2017) Climate change adaptation and disaster risk reduction in Europe. Enhancing coherence of the knowledge base, policies and practices. In European Environment Agency, EEA Report. EEA.
- 29. EEA (2017) Climate change adaptation and disaster risk reduction in Europe. Enhancing coherence of the knowledge base, policies and practices. In European Environment Agency, EEA Report. EEA.
- 30. Eggermont H, Balian E, Azevedo JMN, Beumer V, Brodin T, Claudet J, Fady B, Grube M, Keune H, Lamarque P, Reuter K, Smith M, van Ham C, Weisser WW, Le Roux X (2015) Nature-based solutions: new influence for environmental management and research in Europe. GAIA-Ecological perspectives for science and society 24(4):243-248.
- 31. Elevitch CR, Mazaroli DN, Ragone D, (2018) Agroforestry standards for regenerative agriculture. Sustain 10:1–21.
- 32. Erisman JW, Nick J, van Eekeren M, van Doorn A, Geertsema Wi, Polman N (2017) Measures for Nature-based agriculture. 2017-035 LbD. Louis Bolk Instituut, Bunnik.
- 33. ESB-magazin (2017) Futuristický pokus u Slavkova.
- 34. Falk DA, Palmer A, Zedler JB, Hobbs R (2006) Foundations of restoration ecology. Science and Practice of Restoration Ecology. Washington, DC: Island.
- 35. FAO (1996) Agro-Ecological Zoning. Guidelines. Soil Resources, Management and Conservation Service FAO Land and Water Development Division, Bulletin No. 73.
- 36. Feliciano D, Recha J, Ambaw G, MacSween K, Solomon D, Wollenberg E (2022) Assessment of agricultural emissions, climate change mitigation and adaptation practices in Ethiopia. Clim Policy 1–18



- 37. Fischer G, Prieler S, van Velthuizen H (2005). Biomass potentials of miscanthus, willow and poplar: results and policy implications for Eastern Europe, Northern and Central Asia. Biomass Bioenergy 28, 119–132.
- 38. Francis C, Harwood R (1985) Enough food: achieving food security through regenerative agriculture. Rodale Institute.
- 39. Francis C, Lieblein G, Gliessman SR, Breland TA, Creamer N, Harwood R, Salomonsson L (2003) Agroecology : The Ecology of Food Systems, 99–118.
- 40. Francis C, Lieblein G, Gliessman SR, Breland TA, Creamer N, Harwood R (2003) Agroecology: the ecology of food systems. J. Sustain. Agric. 22:99–118.
- 41. Francis CA, Harwood RR, Parr JF, (1986) The potential for regenerative agriculture in the developing world. Am. J. Altern. Agric. 1:65–74.
- 42. Friedrich T, Derpsch R, Kassam A (2012) Overview of the Global Spread of Conservation Agriculture. Field Actions Science Reports, 6.
- 43. Gabel M. H-P. (1979) A World Scenario for Food Production; World Game Institute: Philadelphia, PA, USA.
- 44. Gliessman SR (2007) Agroecology: The ecology of sustainable food systems. 2nd ed. Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press.
- 45. Gliessman SR (2015) Agroecology: The ecology of sustainable food systems, 3rd ed. Boca Raton, FL: CRCPress/Taylor&Francis.
- 46. Gliessman SR (2018) Defining Agroecology, Agroecology and Sustainable Food Systems, 42:6, 599-60
- 47. Griscom BW, Adams J, Ellis PW, Fargione J (2017) Natural climate solutions. Research Article, Earth, Atmospheric, And Planetary Sciences, 114 (44) 11645-11650
- Henderson BB, Gerber PJ, Hilinski TE, Falcucci A, Ojima DS, Salvatore M, Conant RT (2015) Greenhouse gas mitigation potential of the world's grazing lands: Modeling soil carbon and nitrogen fluxes of mitigation practices. Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment, 207: 91-100
- 49. Howell EA, Harrington JA, Glass SB (2012) Introduction to restoration ecology. Washington, DC: Island.
- 50. Hungary's Fundamental Law /Magyarország Alaptörvényének harmadik módosítása (2012)
- 51. Inspirace (2016) Zelené Střechy Wellness Hotelu Maximus Resort U Brněnské Přehrady
- 52. IPBES (2018) Glossary. Intergovernmental Science-Policy Platform on Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services.
- 53. IPCC (2014) In: Pachauri RK, Meyer LA (Eds.), Climate Change: Synthesis Report. Contribution of Working Groups I, II and III to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change [Core Writing Team. IPCC, Geneva, Switzerland, p. 151.
- 54. IPCC (2018) Matthews JBR (Ed.), In: Global Warming of 1.5°C. An IPCC Special Report on the Impacts of Global Warming of 1.5°C above Pre-industrial Levels and Related Global Greenhouse Gas Emission Pathways, in the Context of Strengthening the Global Response to the Threat of Climate Change, Sustainable Development, and Efforts to Eradicate Poverty (2018) [Masson-Delmotte V., Zhai P, Pörtner HO, Roberts D,Skea J, Shukla PR, Pirani A, Moufouma-Okia W, Péan C, Pidcock R, Connors S, Matthews JBR, Chen Y, Zhou X, Gomis MI, Lonnoy E, Maycock T, Tignor M, Waterfield T (eds.)]. In Press



- 55. IPES-Food (2016) From Uniformity to Diversity: A paradigm shift from industrial agriculture to diversified agroecological systems. International Panel of Experts on Sustainable Food Systems.
- 56. Iseman T, and Miralles-Wilhelm F (2021) Nature-based solutions in agriculture: The case and pathway for adoption. Virginia. FAO and The Nature Conservancy.
- 57. IUCN (2009) Position paper for UNFCCC COP15. IUCN, Copenhagen. Gland, Switzerland.
- 58. IUCN (2016) A Global Standard for the Identification of Key Biodiversity Areas, Version 1.0. IUCN. First edition. Gland, Switzerland.
- 59. IUCN (2020a) IUCN Global Standard for Nature-based Solutions: a user-friendly framework for the verification, design and scaling up of NBS: first edition. IUCN: Gland, Switzerland.
- 60. IUCN (2020b). Guidance for using the IUCN Global Standard for Nature-based Solutions. A user-friendly framework for the verification, design and scaling up of Nature-based Solutions. IUCN, First edition. Gland, Switzerland.
- 61. Kastner R (2016) Hope for the future: how farmers can reverse climate change. Social. Democracy 30:154–170.
- Kellstedt PM, Zahran S, Vedlitz A (2008) Personal efficacy, the information environment, and attitudes toward global warming and climate change in the United States. Risk Anal. Int. J. 28, 113–126
- 63. Křenovská I (2014) Les Jako Životní Prostor
- 64. Kyte R (2014) Climate Change Is a Challenge for Sustainable Development. Gaidar Forum Moscow, Russian Federation
- 65. LaCanne CE, Lundgren JG, (2018) Regenerative agriculture: Merging farming and natural resource conservation profitably. PeerJ 6:E4428.
- 66. Lavelle P, Dugdale R, Scholes R, Berhe AA, Carpenter E, Codispoti L, Izac AM, Lemoalle J, Luizao F, Scholes M, Tréguer P, Ward B (2005) "12. Nutrient cycling". Millennium Ecosystem Assessment: Objectives, Focus, and Approach. Island Press.
- 67. Leal Filho W, Azeiteiro UM, Balogun AL, Setti AFF, Mucova SAR, Ayal D, Totin E, Lydia AM, Kalaba FK, Oguge NO (2021) The influence of ecosystems services depletion to climate change adaptation efforts in Africa. Sci Total Environ 146414
- 68. Li L, Cheshmehzangi A, Chan FKS, Ives CD (2021) Mapping the Research Landscape of Nature-Based Solutions in Urbanism. Sustainability 13(7):3876.
- 69. Lipczynska-Kochany E (2018) Effect of climate change on humic substances and associated impacts on the quality of surface water and groundwater: a review. Sci Total Environ 640:1548–1565
- 70. Lipka (2015) Annual Report 2015.
- 71. Lund University (2018) Agroecology: A better alternative in Sub-Saharan Africa. Science Daily, 4 May
- 72. MacKinnon K, Sobrevila C, Hickey V (2008) Biodiversity, climate change and adaptation: Nature-based solutions from the Word Bank portfolio. World Bank, Washington, D.C., US.
- 73. Malik P, Verma M (2014) Organic agricultural crop nutrient. Res. J. Chem. Sci. 4:94–98.
- 74. Martens P, Mcevoy D, Chang CT (2016) Climate change: responding to a major challenge for sustainable development. Sustainability Science. Springer.
- 75. Massy C (2013) Transforming the Earth: a study in the change of agricultural mindscapes. Australian National University, Canberra



- 76. Massy C (2017) Call of the reed warbler: a new agriculture—a new earth. University of Queensland Press
- 77. McPhee C, Bancerz M, Mambrini-Doudet M, Chrétien F, Huyghe C, Gracia-Garza J (2021) The Defining Characteristics of Agroecosystem Living Labs. Sustainability, 13, 1718.
- 78. Michel D, Eriksson M, Klimes M (2021) Climate change and (in) security in transboundary river basins Handbook of Security and the Environment: Edward Elgar Publishing
- Munasinghe M (2010) Addressing the sustainable development and climate change challenges together: applying the sustainomics framework. Procedia Social Behavl. Sci. 2, 6634–6640
- 80. Murshed M, Dao NTT (2020) Revisiting the CO2 emission-induced EKC hypothesis in South Asia: the role of Export Quality Improvement. GeoJournal
- 81. Nesshöver C, Assmuth T, Irvine KN, Rusch GM, Waylen KA, Delbaere B, Haase D, Jones-Walters L, Keune H, Kovacs E, Krauze K, Külvik M, Rey F, van Dijk J, Vistad OI, Wilkinson ME, Wittmer H (2017) The science, policy and practice of nature-based solutions: An interdisciplinary perspective. Science of The Total Environment 579:1215-1227.
- 82. OECD (2020) "Nature-based solutions for adapting to water-related climate risks". OECD Environment Policy Papers 21, OECD Publishing, Paris.
- 83. Ohkuma M (2003) "Termite symbiotic systems: Efficient bio-recycling of lignocellulose". Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology. 61 (1): 1–9.
- 84. Pataki DE, Carreiro MM, Cherrier J, Grulke NE, Jennings V, Pincetl S, Pouyat R, Whitlow TH, Zipperer W, (2011) Coupling biogeochemical cycles in urban environments: ecosystem services, green solutions, and misconceptions. Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment 9(1):27-36
- 85. Peterson TC, Connolley WM, Fleck J (2008) The Myth of the 1970s Global Cooling Scientific Consensus. Bulletin of the American Meteorological Society. 89 (9): 1325–1338.
- 86. Pierrehumbert R (2010) Principles of Planetary Climate. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press. pp. 249–253. ISBN 978-0-521-86556-2.
- 87. Potschin M, Kretsch C, Haines-Young R, Furman E, Berry P, Baró F (2016) Nature-based solutions. In: Potschin M, and Jax K (eds): OpenNESS Ecosystem Services Reference Book. EC FP7 Grant Agreement no. 308428.
- 88. Princiotta FT, Loughlin DH (2014) Global climate change: the quantifiable sustainability challenge. J. Air Waste Manag. Assoc. 64, 979–994.
- 89. Rhodes CJ (2017) The Imperative for Regenerative Agriculture. Sci. Prog. 100:80–129.
- 90. Rodale Institute (2014) Regenerative Organic Agriculture and Climate Change.
- 91. Rodale R (1983) Breaking new ground. The search for sustainable agriculture. The Futurist 17(1):15-20.
- 92. Rodale R (1985) Internal resources and external in-puts the two sources of all production needs. In Workshop on Regenerative Farming Systems. Rodale Institute, presented to USAID, Washington
- 93. Rodale R (1986) Learning to Think Regeneratively. Bull. Sci. Technol. Soc. 6:6–13.
- 94. Sander BO, Wassmann R, Siopongco J (2016) Water-saving techniques: potential, adoption and empirical evidence for mitigating greenhouse gas emissions from rice production. Climate change and agricultural water management in developing countries pp.193-207
- 95. Sandin L, Seifert-Dähnn I, Furuseth IS, Baattrup-Pedersen A, Zak D, Alkan Olsson J, Hanson H, Sadat Nickayin S, Wilke M, Koivula M, Rastas M, Enge C, Øie Kvile K, Lorentzi



WL, Hoffmann CC, Þrastardóttir R (2022). Working with Nature-Based Solutions. Synthesis and mapping of status in the Nordics. Nordic Council of Ministers. Denmark: Copenhagen.

- 96. Schreefel L, Schulte RP, De Boer IJ, Schrijver AP, Van Zanten HH 2020 Regenerative agriculture–the soil is the base. Glob. Food Secur. 26:100404.
- 97. Sherwood S, Uphoff N (2000) Soil health: Research, practice and policy for a more regenerative agriculture. Appl. Soil Ecol. 15:85–97.
- 98. Simelton E, Carew-Reid J, Coulier M, Damen B, Howell J, Pottinger-Glass C, Tran HV, Van Der Meiren M (2021) NBS Framework for agricultural landscapes. Frontiers in Environmental Science 9:678367.
- 99. Smaling E, Oenema O, Fresco L (1999) "Nutrient cycling in ecosystems versus nutrient budgets in agricultural systems". Nutrient cycles and nutrient budgets in global agroecosystems. Wallingford, UK: CAB International. pp. 1–26.
- 100. Sowińska-Świerkosz B, García J (2022) What are Nature-based solutions (NBS)? Setting core ideas for concept clarification. Nature-Based Solutions 2:100009.
- Theuerkauf J, Legault A, Cchartendrault V, Rouys S, Saoumoé M, Verfaille L, Desmoulins F, Barré N, Gula R (2013) Using ecological niche models to infer the distribution and population size of parakeets in New Caledonia. Biological Conservation 167:149-160.
- 102. Toledo VM, Barrera-Bassols N (2017) Political agroecology in Mexico: A path toward sustainability. Sustainability 9, 268.
- 103. UNEP (2022) Nature-based solutions for supporting sustainable development: Resolution adopted by the United Nations Environment. United Nations Environment Programme [Assembly on 2.03.2022]
- 104. UNFCCC (1992) United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change, United Nations
- 105. USDA (2007) Sustainable Agriculture: Definitions and Terms. Special Reference Briefs Series no. SRB 99-02. U.S. Department of Agriculture. USA
- 106. van Doorn A, Melman D, Westerink J, Polman N, Vogelzang T (2016) Food for thought: natuurinclusieve landbouw. Wageningen: Wageningen University & Research 31.
- 107. Vojvodíková B, Tichá I, Starzewska-Sikorska A (2022) Implementing Nature-Based Solutions in Urban Spaces in the Context of the Sense of Danger That Citizens May Feel. Land, 11, 1712. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/land 11101712</u>
- 108. Wahl DC (2016) Designing regenerative cultures. Triarchy Press
- 109. Water in Brno (2020) Flood Protection
- Wezel A, Bellon S, Doré T, Francis C, Vallod D, David C (2009) Agroecology as a science, a movement and a practice. A review. Agronomy for Sustainable Development, 29(4), 503–515.
- 111. Wild T, Freitas T, Vandewoestijne S (2020) Nature-based solutions: State of the art in EU-funded projects. Publications Office of the European Union. Luxembourg.
- 112. Zelene Strechy (2017) Wellness Hotel Maximus Resort Brno.